

Police and crime commissioners

A guide for community safety partnerships



Contents

Foreword	3
1. Introduction	4
2. Police and crime commissioners	5
3. Wales and London	7
4. The statutory relationship between PCCs and CSPs	8
5. The PCC's commissioning role	11
6. Making it work for you	13
7. What you need to be doing	15
8. What if we do nothing?	18
9. Having a successful relationship with your PCC	19

Foreword

In September the LGA produced a short guide to police and crime commissioners for local authorities. In that we briefly set out some of the implications that the elections of police and crime commissioners would have for community safety partnerships in England and Wales. This second, more in-depth guide explores what police and crime commissioners mean for community safety partnerships and how partnerships can prepare for the changes resulting from the election of police and crime commissioners.

November 2012 still seems a long way off. Given the role police and crime commissioners will have in commissioning community safety services in their force area, partnerships will have to rethink how they work in order to provide a compelling business case for funding the commissioner holds. They will also need to examine their existing structures and decide if they are still fit for purpose in a new community safety landscape that will come into being at the end of 2012.

We hope that this guide facilitates partnerships' preparations. Over the coming months, the LGA will continue to support partnerships to prepare for the transition to police and crime commissioners so please keep in touch with us to let us know how this is taking shape in your area.

Cllr Mehboob Khan

Chair of the LGA's Safer and Stronger Communities Board

Text note

This guidance has been drafted by the LGA and as such reflects their views on the recent policy and legislative developments in relation to police and crime commissioners and community safety partnerships. It is not a reflection of the views of the Government or of civil servants at the Home Office who may issue official guidance in due course. Insofar as is possible it has been drafted so as to complement official guidance.

The guidance is not intended to be prescriptive in nature. It sets out issues that community safety partnerships should

consider in planning for November 2012, and outlines the argument for and against certain courses of action. However, it will be necessary for decisions on these issues to be taken locally, rather than for solutions to be asserted from the centre in a way that may not be appropriate in some areas.

This document is designed as an accompaniment to the LGA publication 'Police and crime commissioners: A guide for councils' and the LGA/Centre for Public Scrutiny publication 'Police and crime panels: Guidance on role and composition'.

1. Introduction

Under current Home Office plans police authorities will cease to exist as of 22 November 2012, when police and crime commissioners take office. As well as marking a significant transition in police accountability, the abolition of police authorities will also herald a new world for community safety partnerships (CSPs).

The election of police and crime commissioners will mean changes in the structures of partnerships. Commissioners, unlike police authorities, will not be responsible authorities under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. At the same time some of the powers the Secretary of State has in relation to partnerships, including the power to require a partnership to produce a report, will be transferred to commissioners. Commissioners will also be given a range of funding streams, a number of which have until now been given to partnerships. It will then be up to the commissioner to decide what community safety related services they want to commission in their area. They do not have to look to community safety partnerships to do this but could turn to the voluntary sector, the private sector or even individuals to provide the services they believe are needed.

This guide looks to explore what issues community safety partnerships will face with the election of police and crime commissioners, and how they might prepare for them over the coming months.

2. Police and crime commissioners

Roles and responsibilities

On 15 November 2012, voters in England and Wales outside London will go to the polls to elect 41 police and crime commissioners (PCCs) for the first time. In the capital the mayor of London will already have been acting as the PCC through the Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime since January 2012, while the City of London will remain as a police authority.

Police and crime commissioners introduced under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, are the cornerstone of the coalition government's policy on crime and policing. The government's intention is that PCCs will make the police democratically accountable to local people, with the PCC holding the chief constable to account for their leadership of the force. Should the public feel that the PCC is not doing this effectively, they can remove them at the ballot box.

The PCC will have similar functions to police authorities. Their main responsibilities will be to:

- secure an efficient and effective police force for their area
- appoint the chief constable, hold them to account for the running of the force and if necessary dismiss them
- set the police and crime objectives for their area by producing a police and crime plan (in consultation with the chief constable)

- set the annual force budget and police precept, and produce an annual report setting out their progress against the objectives in the police and crime plan
- contribute to the national and international policing capabilities set out by the home secretary in the strategic policing requirement
- cooperate with the criminal justice system in their area
- work with partners and fund community safety activity to tackle crime and disorder.

Although the first election for PCCs will take place in November 2012, subsequent elections are likely to take place on a four-yearly cycle from May 2016. Voting will be conducted using the 'single transferable vote' system, as used in the London mayoral election.

Staffing

The level of direct support available to a PCC will ultimately be for the PCC to decide although they are required by law to have a chief executive and chief finance officer post. In the first instance however the PCC will inherit the existing staff who directly support the police authority. The current chief executive of the police authority will become the chief executive of the PCC's staff.

Although these staff could be replaced by the PCC, it is likely that in the early days of the PCC's regime they will have a key role in the induction of the PCC, briefing them on key

issues, and introducing them to key partners and the wider community safety landscape. Forging strong relations over the next year with these police authority staff will be an important task for CSPs if they want to be well placed to work closely with the PCC from the outset.

Scrutiny

When the government set out its commitment to introduce PCCs it was clear that they would be subject to strict checks and balances between elections. The check and balance to the PCC will be provided by a police and crime panel. A panel will be established in each force area comprising representatives from each council, and in England councils will be responsible for setting up the panels.

As the Policing Minister has made clear, and as is set out in the recently published Policing Protocol¹, the role of the panel is to hold to account, and assist, the PCC for the way in which they exercise their role. It is not a replacement for the police authority. In order to scrutinise the PCC the panel will have a number of vetoes and powers including the ability to:

- require the commissioner or a member of their staff to attend panel meetings to answer questions
- request the chief constable attends the panel to answer questions, where it has already required the commissioner to appear before the panel
- appoint an acting commissioner from amongst the commissioner's staff if the commissioner has resigned, has been disqualified from office, or is incapacitated or suspended

- veto the commissioner's proposed precept if two-thirds of the members of the panel vote in favour of doing so
- veto the commissioner's proposed appointment of a chief constable if twothirds of the members of the panel vote in favour of doing so.

As well as these statutory powers, the panel will also have the responsibility to:

- review the PCC's draft police and crime plan
- review the PCC's annual report
- hold confirmation hearings for the PCC's proposed chief executive, chief finance officer and any deputy PCC appointments
- deal with complaints about the PCC, including passing on any allegations about criminal offences to the Independent Police Complaints Commission.

Panels must have a minimum of 10, and a maximum of 18, councillor members, and as already mentioned each council within the force area must provide one councillor to take a place. Additionally, a minimum of two independent co-opted members must be appointed by the panel.

As the panel is owned by local government, it is the responsibility of local government to host, organise and run it – not the force, nor the police authority. Councils within each force area will need to collaborate on both panel composition and on the matter of which council should act as host.

Further detailed guidance about the role and composition of police and crime panels is available from the LGA/CfPS guide 'Police and crime panels: Guidance on role and composition'².

¹ www.homeoffice.gov.uk/publications/police/pcc/policing-protocol

² http://tinyurl.com/6nswajq

3. Wales and London

The situation in Wales is broadly equivalent to that in England. Each of the four force areas will elect a PCC on 15 November 2012, who will have the same roles and responsibilities as their English counterparts.

The key difference is the establishment of Welsh police and crime panels; the National Assembly for Wales declined to allow the Home Office to legislate on local government matters (an area of devolved responsibility). The responsibility for creating the panels will therefore remain with the Home Secretary. Otherwise, the powers and functions are identical to English panels.

In London, the situation differs. From 16 January 2012, the role of PCC will be occupied by the Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime (MOPC), which is ostensibly the mayor of London (although this is likely to be delegated to a deputy mayor for policing and crime) and the Metropolitan Police Authority will be abolished. MOPC has a broadly similar range of powers to the PCC, but is unable to remove the commissioner of police of the metropolis.

The police and crime panel for London will be at the Greater London Authority, as a specific committee of the London Assembly, as opposed to a new body. MOPC will also have to produce a police and crime plan (for the period between mayoral elections), and will be required to consult all London boroughs on its contents. CSPs in London have been working with the mayor's office for some time now, and the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act largely just formulises those existing arrangements. In contrast with the rest of England and Wales, CSPs in London are unlikely to see much change on a day-to-day basis, although some issues for CSPs will be similar; namely, funding granted directly to the mayor, and considering how to work with the mayor in partnership to deliver key services.

4. The statutory relationship between PCCs and CSPs

Cooperation

Unlike police authorities, PCCs will not be 'responsible authorities' under the Crime and Disorder Act 1998, and hence will not be members of community safety partnerships. The statutory duties in the Crime and Disorder Act that apply to police authorities will not apply to PCCs. However, provisions in the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act place a mutual duty on PCCs and responsible authorities in CSPs to cooperate to reduce crime, disorder and reoffending. There is also a similar reciprocal duty on the PCC and criminal justice bodies to cooperate.

Planning and prioritisation

The Act expands on the reciprocal duty to cooperate between PCCs and CSPs by requiring a PCC's police and crime plan to 'have regard to' the priorities of each CSP; and likewise, the CSP must have regard to the priorities established by the PCC in their police and crime plan.

The legislation requires the PCC to create a police and crime plan by the end of the financial year in which they are elected. For the first PCCs that means they will have to produce their plans by the end of March 2012. These plans will then last up to the end of the financial year containing the next election – potentially lasting therefore for five years and covering the period until March 2017. Although this covers ten months

when the PCC may not be in post, this will provide continuity whilst awaiting the new plan from the new commissioner. From April 2013 police and crime plans will replace the requirement for police forces to produce an annual policing plan (under the Policing Plan Regulations 2008).

CSPs however produce three-year rolling plans, refreshed annually; there is a risk therefore that a CSP's priorities will change over the course of the PCC's period in office. Ideally the PCC should refresh their own police and crime plan annually (this is permitted by the legislation) and the revised police and crime plan would then take account of changes in each CSP's plan. CSPs may need to take responsibility for informing the PCC of their planning cycle, to ensure that these are aligned; it may be worth working towards aligning the planning cycles of all CSPs within a force area (some places have already done this).

This should be beneficial for partnerships, as it obliges the PCC to take into consideration the CSP's priorities. Likewise, the requirement to help the PCC deliver his/her priorities means that there is a greater likelihood of crossover between PCCs and CSPs, more opportunity for joint working, and ideally, more opportunity for investment.

It should also mean that the police and crime plan incorporates the evidence on local crime and disorder used to build up CSP strategic assessments. CSPs will need to remember though that PCCs are elected politicians

and commitments made during the election process will undoubtedly influence the police and crime plan. Police and crime plans may well therefore contain priorities that reflect the views and philosophy of the PCC rather than being based on evidence that the police and CSPs have previously used to set policing plan priorities.

Accountability

Although there is nothing explicit in the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act stating that CSPs report to PCCs, partnerships do have a level of accountability towards PCCs. The current ability of the Secretary of State to request a report from a CSP where it is deemed not to be meeting its requirements to reduce crime and disorder will be handed to the PCC. A PCC will also have the ability to call the chairs of CSPs to a meeting to discuss strategic priorities and other forcewide issues (the frequency of these will be determined by the PCC). The intention behind this is to give PCCs the ability to hold just the one meeting with CSPs in their area, rather than having to visit them individually.

Theoretically, a PCC could compel chairs of CSPs to meet with him or her on a regular basis, or to discuss an emerging performance issue, or perhaps to account for themselves following a particular incident. It is expected that individual PCCs will interpret this part of the legislation in different ways. Where there are already existing strategic level partnership structures, consideration should be given to how these could be adapted to meet the needs of PCCs to collectively engage with CSPs. Presenting a new PCC with a pre-existing arrangement that meets his/her needs and allows him or her to engage with partnerships across

all or part of their force area will mean that the PCC does not have to create their own structures that could duplicate arrangements already in place.

At the outset of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Bill, there was significant concern amongst CSPs that an incoming PCC would sweep away the existing network of CSPs and install a single, force-level partnership board. This has been allayed by a section in the Act which only gives PCCs the power to approve the mergers of partnerships, not to enforce them (although they can suggest them). If two or more partnerships wish to merge, they now need only the signatures of the chief executives of each responsible authority in each area, to present to the PCC for approval. This is significantly simpler than existing arrangements (although the Home Secretary still needs to give final approval for mergers).

As well as their relationship with PCCs, CSPs remain accountable under the crime and disorder scrutiny provisions originally set out in the Police and Justice Act 2006. Councils are therefore still required to have an overview and scrutiny committee covering crime and disorder matters and which scrutinises the performance of its CSP. As the PCC is not a responsible authority on the CSP, this committee will not be able to scrutinise the PCC – this will be the role of the police and crime panel (see chapter 2).

Crime and disorder overview and scrutiny committees will need to consider how local-level issues uncovered in their own work (but which relate to the PCC and decisions they may have made) are passed on to the police and crime panel. In drawing up their work programmes it seems sensible for the work programme of the police and crime panel to

be taken into account to avoid duplication and maximise use of scrutiny resources. These issues will be explored in more detail in a forthcoming LGA guide.

Perhaps of most interest to CSPs is that the PCC will inherit all grant funding previously awarded to CSPs from government (see chapter 5).



5. The PCC's commissioning role

The PCC will be responsible for setting the force budget, making community safety grants, and setting the local precept. These are substantial powers in the hands of one individual.

PCCs will have the ability to make grants for the reduction of crime and disorder to any person/organisation they see fit (although the financial code for PCCs may limit who they can fund), and will inherit various grants from government (probably in April 2013), with no obligation to pass funding on to CSPs.

The community safety fund, which will have been reduced by 60 per cent from April 2012, will be paid to PCCs from April 2013 at the latest, alongside funding such as the Home Office elements of drug intervention programme money. The Policing Minister recently announced there would be a consultation on transferring Ministry of Justice funding for supporting victims of crime to PCCs. The Home Office is in the process of drawing up a list of additional grants to be handed to PCCs, but has yet to finalise it. It is likely that any ringfencing around these grants will be removed, enabling the PCC to deal with a truly pooled budget, giving them maximum flexibility to tackle the issues relevant to their community.

In Wales the position for partnerships will be slightly different; the Welsh Government also currently provides funding to community safety partnerships and has said it will continue do so rather than hand the money over to the PCC.

Commissioning

This pooled budget will be entirely at the behest of a single PCC, and its allocation will depend on his/her beliefs and priorities. Indeed, a PCC could hypothetically choose to invest their grant funding back into the police force, rather than commission the broad range of services a CSP may traditionally have chosen.

More likely is that the PCC will seek to commission services from a mixed economy of providers. Essentially the PCC can choose from a free market in community safety services, and voluntary/community or private sector providers or even other public sector services may be willing to compete with CSPs to provide services traditionally undertaken by community safety teams or their partners. Partnerships will therefore have to consider if they wish to bid for funding from PCCs. If they do, the onus will be on CSPs to provide an outcomes-based, well evidenced business case in support of their request for funding (see chapter 6 for tips on commissioning).

It is worth noting that the community safety fund may only account for around 3 per cent of the PCC's overall financial responsibility. Even with the addition of other grants, the actual non-police fund commissioning ability of the PCC is small compared to their overall responsibility. It may well be that the PCC would not want to create a new commissioning bureaucracy (as

traditionally police authorities have not had much experience in this area), but instead choose to commission through a single commissioning framework (see chapter 6), or instead simply passport funding directly to CSPs, in order for them to commission services in support of the PCC's stated priorities. This would be a positive outcome for CSPs, but will only happen if a PCC considers the CSP to be a trustworthy partner; again, the CSP will need to provide evidence for this.

Force budget and precept

The PCC will be responsible for setting the force budget and local precept. The precept – the amount added to a council tax bill for the funding of local policing – has to be ratified by the police and crime panel (see chapter 2). The force budget must include an element of the 'strategic policing requirement' – the activities each force is duty-bound to undertake to preserve national security – but other than that the PCC can set the force budget any way they choose.

Where CSPs are concerned, this flexibility is likely to have implications for activity such as neighbourhood policing, which is highly visible and traditionally works closely in partnership with other agencies.

Clearly these are significant responsibilities for a PCC, and, as mentioned in chapter 2, it is worth noting that one of the two members of staff a PCC has to employ by law is a chief finance officer.

6. Making it work for you

Clearly the changes will be significant for the community safety sector. For some places, there are considerable challenges to work through and the incoming PCC may be seen as a barrier to further progress. Others are already fully involved in making transition arrangements, and seeking to work with this powerful new partner. Whatever the approach, the PCC will have a major impact on community safety, and partnerships need to put themselves into the best possible position to ensure this new relationship delivers continued reductions in crime and disorder for the communities they serve.

The PCC's freedom to commission services from any person or organisation has essentially created a free market in community safety. If CSPs – or any of their constituent responsible authorities – wish to be commissioned, ahead of other providers, to continue to deliver the services they have been developing, then they will need to evidence to a PCC exactly what they can offer in terms of outcomes.

Where CSPs have an advantage is that they have already been doing the work. CSP partners can actively demonstrate the impact their activity has had over time, and hence why the PCC should continue to invest in them. Where external providers may offer to provide a similar service for less cost, partnerships need to be able to evidence a superior level of quality and sustainability in their service as the decisive factor. This alone may not be enough; if a PCC considers "value for money" (which they must legally

take account of) to be purely the fiscal value of a contract, and not its broader quality or diffused benefits, then they may still choose to commission an alternative provider ahead of a CSP or other key partner.

There is no point duplicating activity. CSPs need to prioritise key activities they believe they are best placed to deliver. It may be that CSPs can negotiate with the PCC to determine this; the PCC might commission their services and CSPs will look to plug the gaps left.

Competing with voluntary/community and private sector providers may be unfamiliar territory for CSPs. It is worth studying effective bid-writing and sharpening up the greatest asset CSPs have in this field – proof of previous delivery – before the election.

Joint commissioning frameworks

Some partnerships have come together across force areas to consider establishing their own joint commissioning framework for community safety. When a PCC inherits the staff of the existing police authority, they are unlikely to include individuals with comprehensive experience of commissioning and procurement. Likewise, police forces rarely do much of this themselves. Councils and PCTs, however, are highly experienced, and have whole teams established to ensure services are adequately commissioned, procured and contracts monitored.

By establishing a framework by which activity is commissioned jointly and procured where necessary through a single portal, partnerships can make significant savings themselves. This might also provide a commissioning service for the PCC across the force area. Provided formal agreements are in place between partnerships in advance of offering services, this should be attractive to a PCC; it excuses them the task of recruiting and providing for their own commissioning and procurement unit, and also brings the PCC closer to the partnerships when it comes to decisionmaking about commissioned services. When this is linked to the duty to have regard to each other's priorities, this presents a compelling picture of a unified approach to commissioning crime and disorder services.

Of course, creating something like a joint commissioning framework before November 2012 is challenging, but not impossible. Partnerships will need to show a PCC that they are capable of radical change in order to achieve better outcomes more efficiently.



7. What you need to be doing

As CSPs have ably demonstrated, individual agencies struggle to cut crime on their own - but working in partnership brings real and tangible benefits. If councils are going to respond to residents' desire for crime and anti-social behaviour to be tackled they are going to have to continue to engage with the police. Between now and the election on 15 November 2012, CSPs will want to be proactively preparing to work closely with their PCC.

Meeting with other CSPs

Firstly, if areas have not done so already, an opportunity must be made for representatives of all CSPs in a force area to come together to discuss the changes, their implications, and explore options for joint working. The meeting should include:

- exploration of the Act and the sections relevant to CSPs
- · discussion on joint working opportunities
- · examination of a 'brochure' for the PCC
- consideration of a joint strategic assessment, or force-wide summary document
- establishment of a joint commissioning framework across the force area
- contemplating options for setting up and hosting police and crime panels
- a joint communications campaign on behalf of all CSPs.

This meeting should be more than a talking shop – decisions need to be made, action plans drawn up, and activity delegated to key individuals to take forward.

Devon and Cornwall

Aware of the emerging picture, CSPs in Devon and Cornwall first met in January 2011 to debate and plan for incoming PCCs. The partnerships worked through the early drafts of the legislation and were able to uncover the likely key issues affecting CSPs, and begin to plan to mitigate them.

Almost a year later they have a detailed action plan in place, and many of the ideas in this guide have derived from their thinking and the work they have been undertaking together. As a result of coming together – which they had never previously done as a group – they have embarked on a series of joint initiatives and shared good practice, and have improved outcomes for residents.

The working group also brings together chairs of CSPs in the force area on a quarterly basis to give them strategic direction, and are working to a new peninsula-wide grouping of chief executives and leaders to prepare a range of options for the establishment of a police and crime panel.

Although some areas will have a long history of collaboration between CSPs at force level, some force areas exist only as policing boundaries (eg West Mercia, Thames Valley), where CSPs may never have come together before. This should be seen as an opportunity to share good practice and create new chances for collaboration.

Many CSPs are keen to preserve their individuality and their autonomy. However, in a financially restricted climate, it may not be possible for all CSPs to be sustainable, especially in rural or low-crime areas. Many CSPs have already informally merged and the Act enables a more simplified process for formal mergers to take place (see chapter 4). This does not mean an end to, or dilution of, community safety activity in an area; rather, it can mean a greater emphasis on tactical delivery rather than supporting strategic decision-making, and can deliver better value for money.

Norfolk

Even prior to the ratification of the Act, Norfolk had made the decision to simplify its community safety landscape. The force area of Norfolk is made up of one county council and seven district councils. Each had its own CSP, despite some having very low levels of crime. Officers were spending lots of time creating separate plans, strategies and strategic assessments, and supporting meetings of responsible authority groups.

After a review of their arrangements, the decision was taken to create a single, county-wide community safety partnership, and replace those at district level with a network of locationbased tactical delivery groups. This freed up officer time to focus on problem-solving and multi-agency operational support. Simultaneously, Norfolk reduced the demand on strategic and administrative support, by ending the requirement for seven districts to produce key documents and host strategic planning meetings and replacing them with one county process. Districts still have a significant role in guiding the work of the partnership, through their representation on the county-wide group.

As well as creating savings, this approach will enable a PCC to easily engage with partnerships through a single point of access.

Spreading the word

An incoming PCC may not be aware of the role or detail of community safety partnerships or how community safety works within their new force area. To address this, a number of partnerships are considering producing a joint local 'brochure' to welcome the PCC, including details of each CSP, the key contacts for each, a list of their priorities, and a calendar of their meetings and document production timetable for the year ahead. If adopted, this approach should be jointly owned and co-ordinated by all CSPs in the force area. It may be worth including details of key voluntary/community sector partners in this brochure.

The election of PCCs will mean that community safety will be politicised like never before. CSPs will need to consider how they can operate in a political environment; the executive member will be vital in this.

CSPs should consider how they can work to communicate knowledge around CSPs and promote their activities to candidates before the election. Some CSPs are considering working with local political parties to ensure that those involved in selecting candidates for a PCC are fully aware of CSPs and the possibilities of success for a PCC willing to work with them in partnership.

Ultimately, a CSP can be doing fantastic work, but if a PCC is unaware of it or does not view the evidence of it, then they will be less likely to regard a CSP as a strong partner in community safety. It is therefore vital that CSPs spend the remaining time before the election strengthening their evaluations, building an evidence base, and developing a powerful communications strategy to demonstrate clearly the benefits of working with CSPs.

Some areas are trialling the creation of a single, force-wide strategic assessment, summarising the content of each CSPs assessment, to present to the PCC; this will ensure that the PCC's police and crime plan is informed by the same data as CSPs' partnership plans. Having this in place should enable an alignment of priorities, and a discussion about how these will be tackled by the PCC and CSPs in partnership, rather than as parallel entities (see also chapter 9).

Checklist for CSPs

Have you:

- briefed your chief executive, council leader, and senior responsible authority members on the forthcoming changes and the impact on them?
- come together with fellow CSPs in your force area?
- together, discussed the possibility of:
 - a single strategic assessment
 - a joint commissioning framework
 - a welcome pack for the PCC
 - an access point of engagement to partnerships for the PCC?
- planned a programme of evaluation of, and communication about, your work?

8. What if we do nothing?

There is a temptation, in particular among those opposed to the election of police commissioners, to carry on as normal. In some areas the amount of grant funding transferred to the PCC's control will be an insignificant percentage of that area's total spend on community safety, and local leaders may regard the PCC as hostile to the continued existence of the CSP.

This would be a mistake. Research conducted by the LGA showed that the public's top priority for incoming PCCs was anti-social behaviour. PCCs are likely to find they need to engage with councils and CSPs to deliver on their manifesto commitments. and the police will struggle to deal with antisocial behaviour and other issues without the engagement of councils. Furthermore the legislation is particularly designed to support the links between PCCs and CSPs, and if properly managed the relationship could be fruitful for all parties. It may well be that the emphasis is on the CSP (or group of CSPs) to drive the relationship, at least initially, as the PCC is likely to consider their prime relationship to be with the chief constable.

It is vital that CSPs strive to ensure that workstreams are aligned with the PCC. Failure to do so will result in parallel strategies competing for diminishing resources, diluting the efforts of both. A CSP strategy that does not in some way complement the aims of the PCC is extremely unlikely to receive community safety grants, and partners will struggle for

direction. Most importantly, the key partner in community safety – the police force – is likely to give precedence to the direction set by the PCC.

This will result in poorer outcomes for communities, as organisations retreat into silos, public spending is duplicated, and the small resource left to spend on community safety is much less efficiently distributed. Ultimately partners could seek to withdraw from CSPs and partnership working will cease.

9. Having a successful relationship with your PCC

The alarming scenarios painted in the previous chapter need not happen, of course. Once the PCC is in post, the successful CSP will engage with him/her and draw up complementary strategies to support joint objectives, with funding and resources aligned across partnerships to focus on the areas of greatest need.

Early days

To make this happen, it is important to consider the points made previously about engaging the PCC. Following the election, the PCC is likely to be busy with organising their own office, fulfilling media obligations, and starting to think about producing their police and crime plan. The staff of the police authority will be transferred to work for the PCC just after the election, and it is with these individuals that the months of joint work invested prior to the election will bear fruit.

In the hectic early weeks of the PCC's leadership, their new chief executive will fulfil a vital role in managing the PCC's commitments and ensuring their obligations are met. As these will include joint working with CSPs, you will need to work with the chief executive of the police authority in the months prior to their transfer to ensure they are fully aware of your CSP's capabilities, achievements, priorities and planning cycle. The successful CSP will cultivate this relationship well in advance of the election.

Working together

As the purseholder of community safety grant funding, the PCC's relationship with the CSP will include both partnership and commissioning. There are likely to be many opportunities for CSPs to present themselves as preferred delivery partners but CSPs will need to present a convincing case (funding and commissioning of CSPs are discussed in detail in chapters 4 and 5).

As discussed in chapter 7, some CSPs are already considering a shared single strategic assessment across the force area (although some fear their own area's issues will be swallowed up in a greater mass of data). Should a police and crime plan be informed by the same evidence base as a CSP's partnership plan however, then there would be a greater likelihood of identifying shared priorities, which would in turn result in a higher probability of developing joint work between the PCC and CSPs.

CSPs need to consider how they will create this new partnership with the PCC, and turn it to the advantage of communities. There is a possibility in the time of transition to create a stronger entity across the force area that provides better outcomes for local people at a reduced cost, but CSPs will need to ensure that they are envisaged as willing partners to the PCC (as opposed to being resistant to change) and are open to responding to new opportunities.



Local Government Association

Local Government House Smith Square London SW1P 3HZ

Telephone 020 7664 3000 Fax 020 7664 3030 Email info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk

© Local Government Association, January 2012

For a copy in Braille, larger print or audio, please contact us on 020 7664 3000. We consider requests on an individual basis.